

University of Nebraska Medical Center DigitalCommons@UNMC

Capstone Experience

Master of Public Health

12-2018

Burden and Risk Factors Associated with HCV Infection among People Living with HIV Infection in Nebraska: Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study from 1997 to 2017

Issaka Kabore University of Nebraska Medical Center

Tell us how you used this information in this short survey. Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/coph_slce

Part of the Public Health Commons

Recommended Citation

Kabore, Issaka, "Burden and Risk Factors Associated with HCV Infection among People Living with HIV Infection in Nebraska: Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study from 1997 to 2017" (2018). *Capstone Experience*. 59.

https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/coph_slce/59

This Capstone Experience is brought to you for free and open access by the Master of Public Health at DigitalCommons@UNMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in Capstone Experience by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNMC. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@unmc.edu.

Burden and Risk Factors Associated with HCV Infection among People Living with HIV Infection in Nebraska: Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study from 1997 to 2017

By

Issaka Kabore

MPH-Epidemiology Candidate, Epidemiology Department

College of Public Health, University of Nebraska Medical Center

Advisory Committee:

Col. Ted Cieslak, MD, FAAP, FIDSA;

Advisor and committee chair

Wichman, Christopher S, PhD;

Committee member

Dennis Leschinsky, |BS Epidemiologist;

Preceptor

December 3rd, 2018

CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
Background	4
Methods	7
• Study design and data sources	7
Eligibility criteria	7
Modeling and Statistical analysis	9
• Variables	9
Results	10
Discussion	17
Limitations recommendations	21
Conclusion	22
References	

Acknowledgements

First, I would to be thankful to the Almighty God for his protection and blessings in my life. During this journey, I have been blessed to be in good health and I did not encounter any difficult above my power. Glory be to the Lord for all his greatness and faithfulness.

Furthermore, I want to show my appreciation to the staff at the Nebraska Health Department and Human Services for accepting me into their team and showing me about the power of public health to make all Nebraska a "state of good life." I was very blessed to work closely with many mentors and get my initiation in public health field at the state level.

Second, I would like to say thank to all my advisory committee: Col. Ted Cieslak, MD ,thank you for being an incredible advisor, motivator and mentor during this journey, and for helping me achieve this program I saw in you the type of leader I would to become; Wichman, Christopher PhD, thank you for your expertise and assisting me for the methodology part of my project and my preceptor Dennis Leschinsky, I have noticed your good heart for people, thank you for kindness. These three have a combined experience more than six decades, it was a honor and a blessing to learn and do my baby steps your under supervision.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge my family; my wife Adele Pingwende Kabore, my two kids Shalom Miracle and Grace Carole Kabore, parents and siblings thank you for all your supports. My classmates and friends have been helpful to me for achieving this program, let go and make this world a better place to live.

ABSTRACT

Background: Previous studies have shown high prevalence of HCV infection among people living with HIV infection. Coinfected people are at risk of developing liver diseases resulting an increase rate of mortality. Several risk factors for HIV/HCV coinfection have previously been identified with injecting drug users (IDU) as the common route of exposure.

Methods: This was cross -sectional study using HIV and HCV registries maintained by Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services (NE DHHS) from1997 to 2017. A descriptive analysis was used to characterize the sample. Chi-squared test and Fisher exact test were selected to compare the different groups. Univariate and multiple variable logistic regression model chose for the analytical analysis for association between variables.

Results: Of 3256 persons with HIV, 356 were coinfected with HCV resulting a proportion of 11%. Based on HIV diagnosis, 52% persons were coinfected by HCV after being diagnosed with HIV while 48% acquired their HCV before becoming infected with HIV. Exposure by IDU (OR=3.8, 95% CI:2.6-6.7), IDU & Heterosexual contact (OR=3.3, 95% CI:1.8-5.8), MSM & heterosexual contact (OR=2.7, 95% CI:1.1-6.7), MSM & IDU (OR=4.5, 95% CI:2.7-7.5) and all three factors MSM & IDU & Heterosexual contact (OR=4.8, 95% CI:2.1-11.1) had higher odds of HIV/HCV coinfection compare to heterosexual contact alone. MSM alone was not a statistically significant risk factor for coinfection. The 56 years and above age group had highest odds of HCV coinfection. Moreover, coinfected persons had 1.87 odds of dying (95% CI: 1.42-2.45) compared to those with HIV alone.

BACKGROUND

HIV and HCV infections are major global public health problems with overlapping modes of transmission and overlapping affected populations (WHO, 2018). Chronic infection with these viruses is among the greatest challenges facing health care systems in the United States and worldwide (Hadigan & Kottilil, 2011). Globally, there are an estimated 36.9 million people living with HIV infection and 1.8 million people were newly infected with HIV during 2017 (UNAIDS, 2018). Hepatitis C prevalence is even higher, with an estimated 115 million people with chronic infection worldwide (WHO,2018) & (Smith & Sterling, 2007). Looking to HIV/HCV coinfection, the WHO reported that approximately 2.3 million people living with HIV are coinfected with hepatitis C virus (HCV) worldwide with 1.3 million of those injecting drugs (persons who inject drugs; PWID) (WHO, 2018).

Overall, it is estimated that HCV infection affects 2–15% of people living with HIV worldwide (and up to 90% of those are PWID) and the burden of these co-infections is greatest in the African and South East Asia Regions (WHO, 2018). The sub-Saharan African region accounts for the majority of HIV/HCV coinfection worldwide due to the high burdens of HIV in this location (Platt et al., 2016). A study also found that HIV-infected people are on average six times more likely than HIV-uninfected people to have HCV infection; furthermore, among people living with HIV infection, the rates of HCV coinfection are elevated among MSM (6.4%) and among PWID can be as high as 82·4% Platt et al., 2016) &(Cuomo et al., 2018).

In studies from Western Europe and the USA, HCV infection has been found in 25–30% of HIV-positive persons overall; 72–95% of injection drug users, 1–12% of MSM and 9–27% of

heterosexuals (Alter, 2006) and Thomas reported that HCV coinfection occurs in one quarter of HIV-infected persons in Europe, Australia, and the United States (Thomas, 2008). HCV is the cause of more than three-quarters of liver-related deaths among people living with HIV infection, Nowadays, approximately one-quarter of HIV-infected individuals in Europe and the USA have HCV coinfection (d'Arminio Monforte et al., 2009).

In the U.S, the CDC estimates that one quarter of people living with HIV infection in the United States are also infected with HCV, a bloodborne virus transmitted through direct contact with the blood of an infected person (CDC, 2018). But a study using surveillance data from 15 states and two cities in the US which collected data from 504 398 persons living with diagnosed HIV infection at the end of 2014, showed that only 6.7% were coinfected with HCV (Bosh et al., 2018). The CDC also notes that, in the U.S, HIV/HCV confection is common (50%–90%) among injection drug users (CDC, 2018).

Many other risk factors and demographic characteristics have been associated with a risk of HCV coinfection among people living with HIV. These include: being in prison, low socioeconomic status, the presence of one or more tattoos, a history of trading sex for money or drugs, having 11 or more sexual partners, and having sex with an intravenous drug user. But in England, a study showed that the majority acquired HIV and HCV through sex between men 64.9%, followed by injecting drug use; 22.5% and heterosexual contact 12.4% (Ireland et al., 2018).

Since 2000 there has been recognition in developed countries that there has been a dramatic rise in the incidence of HCV among people living with HIV, especially in the group of MSM (Men who have sex with Men) even though sexual transmission of HCV remains controversial in the general population (Danta & Rodger, 2011). Bollepalli et al., using a

multivariate regression model, concluded that only intravenous drug use is a significant risk factor/predictor of HCV/HIV coinfection (Bollepalli et al., 2007).

HIV/HCV Coinfection is associated with high morbidity and mortality, making identification of these cases crucial as HCV infection progresses more rapidly to liver damage among HIV-infected persons (CDC,2018). Compared to people living with HIV but without HCV, HCV coinfected patients were more likely to develop cirrhosis, had an increased risk of developing AIDS, of HIV-related disease and of overall mortality (Andreoni et al., 2012).

Individuals who are coinfected with both viruses are at risk for accelerated liver disease and consequently cirrhosis, liver failure, and hepatocellular carcinoma with a high rate of mortality, especially in developing countries (Operskalski & Kovacs, 2011) & (Matthews & Dore, 2008). Despite tremendous advances in treatment and management of HIV and HCV, individuals with HIV/HCV coinfection experience a more complicated disease course (Hadigan & Kottilil, 2011). Complications due to the coinfection are accountable for an approximate 30% reduction in life expectancy among people who live with these two chronic infections (Leszczyszyn-Pynka et al., 2018).

In Nebraska, there is a need for current studies examining the burden and risk factors associated with HCV coinfection among people infected with HIV infection. This study was undertaken in order to gain an improved understanding of the HIV/HCV coinfection burden in Nebraska with the expectation that interventions by relevant health authorities could be better focused and made more efficient in order to prevent and decrease the burden of HCV coinfection among people infected with the HIV infection. In this study we aimed to determine:

- The prevalence and the sociodemographic characteristics of HCV coinfection among people living with HIV infection in Nebraska from 1997 to 2017
- The temporal and spatial distribution of HCV coinfection among people living with HIV infection in Nebraska from 1997 to 2017
- The risk factors for HCV coinfection among people living with HIV in Nebraska from 1997 to 2017

METHODS

Study design and data sources

This was a cross-sectional study using surveillance data from separate HIV/AIDS and HCV registries. The HIV/AIDS data is stored in the Enhanced HIV/AIDS Reporting System (eHARS) which is a browser-based, CDC-developed application that assists health departments with data reporting, data management, and data transfer to CDC.

All Electronic Lab Reports (ELR) are received by the Nebraska Diseases Surveillance System (NEDSS), which is the web-based disease surveillance system for most reportable diseases including HCV and HIV. Prior to the NEDSS, the reportable diseases were stored in the Telecommunications System for Surveillance (NETSS). The HIV lab reports are then imported into eHARS using a CDC-developed import process through SAS software.

To obtain the final dataset which contains all HIV patients having positive lab report for hepatitis C, we merged the three datasets (NETSS, NEDSS and eHARS) and then de-identified using a unique identifier for everyone represented in the dataset using SAS.

Approval for the study was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the University of Nebraska Medical Center and all patient data was de-identified to avoid any risk to patient confidentiality.

Eligibility criteria

The merging process of the registries generated a dataset of 5288 patients from 1983 to 2018. This original dataset contains all the newly diagnosed patients with HIV/AIDS and 424 were coinfected with HCV.

After, applying the following selection criteria:

- People newly diagnosed with HIV infection between 1997 to 2017. The implementation of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in 1996 dramatically altered the life expectancy, and potentially the behavior, of HIV-infected individuals. Patients with much longer expectancies have more time and opportunities to acquire additional infections such as HCV infection. We thus chose to limit our study to the HAART era
- Reported and enrolled as person living with HIV/AIDS in Nebraska at DHHS registries.
- Person HIV infected, tested for hepatitis C and the result reported to the NE-DHHS

The final dataset contains 3236 people living with HIV and 356 coinfected with HCV

Modeling and Statistical analysis

This study is divided in three parts as following:

• A descriptive analysis was conducted in order to summarize the characteristics of the study sample, including sociodemographic characteristics and effects of HCV coinfection among people living with HIV. This was accomplished by comparing the different

proportions (percentage) of people living with HIV infection and those with the coinfection HIV/HCV. Frequencies were generated to compare the different groups.

- Our study focused on describing the characteristics of those with the coinfection HIV/HCV and identified risk factors associated with HCV coinfection among HIV infected patients. Univariate and multiple logistic regression analyses were conducted in order to assess the influence of these risk factors.
- Finally, a descriptive analysis was conducted in order to compare people diagnosed as having HCV before HIV with those who acquired HCV after receiving an HIV diagnosis.

All variables were transformed to categorical variables and patients were stratified in specific groups to reduce interaction and confounding effects. Fisher's exact test was used for the descriptive analysis. The Interaction among the following variables was checked and all analysis was conducted using SAS 9.4. The alpha level of 0.05 and confidence interval excluding 1 were used to determine the statistical significance. ArcGIS was used to determine the geographical distribution of HIV/HCV coinfected patients within Nebraska.

Variables:

The principle outcome variable in our study was HIV/HCV Coinfection. A person with HIV/HCV coinfection is defined as someone who has both infections. The main exposures (transmission categories) were grouped into MSM only, IDU only, Heterosexual contact, MSM and IDU, MSM & Hetero, IDU and Hetero, MSM & IDU & Hetero, and other (Perinatal, No Identified Risk, No Reported Risk).

RESULTS

Of a total 3236 persons reported to the NE-DHHS from 1997 to 2017 as persons living with HIV/AIDS and 356 people were coinfected with HCV as result, the estimated proportion of HCV among people living with HIV/AIDS was around 11%.

Figure 1 below represents the percentage per year of HCV coinfection among PLWHA in Nebraska with an overall increase from 1997 to 2015 and a slight decrease since 2015



Figure 1: Proportion(percentage) of HCV infection among PLWHA in Nebraska, 1997-2017

Figure 2 and 3 below shows the geographical repartition of HIV infection and HIV/HCV coinfection in Nebraska during 1997 to 2017. Most of reported cases of HIV/AIDS infection and HIV/HCV coinfection were in Douglas and Lancaster health districts.



Figure 2: Distribution of HIV infection only per health district between 1997 to 2017 Nebraska



Figure 3: Distribution of HCV/HIV coinfection per health district between 1997 to 2017, in

Nebraska

Table 1 describes the characteristics of people living with HIV infection and those living with HIV/HCV coinfection. The total number of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) was 3236 and 356 persons were coinfected. Non- Hispanic whites represented over 50% of cases and non-Hispanic blacks composed around the third of cases. The proportion of Hispanics among PLWHA was found to be15% vs 8% for HIV/HCV coinfection.

Males accounted for approximately 80% of cases of PLWHA, as well as 80% of coinfected people. Men who sex with men (MSM) represent 46.5% of PLWHA and only 39 % for coinfected persons. A heterosexual exposure was found in 15.9% among PLWHA compared to 9.5% for people coinfected with HCV. The proportion of injection drugs users (IDU) was 3 times higher among people with coinfection HCV compared to those with HIV infection only. There was no identified risk or reported risk in 24.4% of PLWHA and 18% of coinfected patients.

When examining by age, approximately 2/3 of cases were between 26 to 45 years, with a tendency towards older age among people with HIV/HCV coinfection. The percentage of foreign-born individuals was 28.4% among PLWHA vs 17.3% for those with coinfection. The stage of HIV infection was similar between the two groups, but the number of deaths was approximately twice as high (22.7% vs 13.6%) among people with coinfection compared to those with HIV only.

	HIV only (%)	HIV/HCV (%)
Race		
White	1482(51.4)	207 (58.1)
Black	798 (27.7)	96 (26.9)
Hispanic	426(14.7)	30 (8.4)
Asian	62(2.1)	5(1.4)
Multi-race	54(1.8)	10(2.8)
Other (AI/AN, NHw/PI)	58(2)	8(2.2)
Gender		
Male	2245(78)	268(75.3)
Female	635(22)	88(24.7)
Exposure		
MSM only	1339(46.5)	139(39)
IDU only	94(3.2)	31(8.7)
Heterosexual only	459(15.9)	34(9.5)
MSM and IDU	130(4.5)	44(12.3)
IDU and Hetero	94(3.2)	27(7.6)
MSM & Hetero	33(1.1)	7(2)
MSM & IDU & Hetero	27(0.9)	10(2.8)
Other	704(24.4)	64(18)
Age group		
Less than 16	55(1.91)	1(0.28)
17-25	555(19.2)	48(13.4)
26-35	1029(35.7)	100(28)
36-45	768(26.6)	129(36.2)
46-55	374(13)	60(16.8)
56 and above	99(3.4)	18(5)
Birth Country		
USA	2058 (71.4)	295(82.9)
Foreign	822(28.5)	61(17.1)
State of HIV diagnostic		
Nebraska	1844(64)	207(58.1)
Non-Nebraska	1036(36)	149(41.8)
HIV stage		
Acute HIV	1378(47.8)	158(44.4)
Clinical Latency	1493(51.8)	198(55.6)
AIDS	9(0.31)	0(0)

Table 1: Descriptive characteristics of people living with HIV/AIDS vs People coinfected withHCV in Nebraska from 1997 to 2017

Vital Status		
Alive	2484(86.4)	275(77.2)
Death	391(13.6)	81(22.7)
Total	2880	356

Other/Exposure: (Perinatal, No Identified Risk, No Reported Risk, Sharing Sex Toys, etc.); other/Race: (Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, Native American/Alaska Natives).

Table 2 shows odds ratios associated with different characteristics and risk factors of HIV/HCV coinfected people. Among the variables considered in the model, using heterosexual contact only as reference group, MSM had 1.4 times odds of HIV/HCV coinfection but this estimate was not statistically significant (CI=0.9-2.1). However, IDU, IDU & Hetero, MSM & hetero, MSM & IDU, MSM & IDU & Hetero had a significant increase in the odds of HIV/HCV coinfection with respective odds ratios of 3.8, 3.3, 2.7, 4.5 and 4.8. Referring to the 17-26 years age group as a reference, 36-45 years old (OR=1.7, 95% CI: 1.2-2.5), 46-55 years old (OR=1.7,95% CI: 1.1-2.6) and 56 years old and above (OR=2.1, 95% CI: 1.1-3.7) had significantly increased odds of having HIV/HCV coinfection. Based on the birth country and comparing to USA born, foreign born had 0.7 odds of having HIV/HCV coinfection, this estimated was statistically significant (OR=0.7, 95% CI=0.4-0.9).

	Crude OR	95% Wald Cl
Race		
Asian vs White	1.1	0.4-3.1
Black vs White	1.2	0.9-1.6
Hispanic vs White	0.8	0.5-1.27
Multi-race vs White	1.7	0.8-3.5
Other vs White	0.8	0.3-1.8
Exposure category		
MSM vs Hetero	1.4	0.9-2.1
IDU vs hetero	3.8	2.2-6.7
IDU & Hetero vs Hetero	3.3	1.8-5.8
MSM & Hetero vs Hetero	2.7	1.1-6.7
MSM & IDU vs Hetero	4.5	2.7-7.5
MSM & IDU & Hetero vs Hetero	4.8	2.1-11.1
Other vs Hetero	1.4	0.9-2.1
Birth sex		
Female vs Male	1.2	0.9-1.6
Age group		
26-35 vs 17-25	1.1	0.7-1.6
36-45 vs 17-25	1.7	1.2-2.5
46-55 vs 17-25	1.7	1.1-2.6
56-above vs 17-25	2.1	1.1-3.7
Less than 16 vs 17-25	0.2	0.0-1.8
Birth Country		
Foreign vs USA	0.7	0.4-0.9
State		
Non-Nebraska vs Nebraska	1.2	0.9-1.5

 Table 2: Multivariable analysis results summarizing the odds ratio of HIV/HCV coinfection

Table 3 summarizes the descriptive characteristics of HIV/HCV coinfected people based on the timing of HIV diagnosis. Of a total 356 coinfected cases, 248 had enough information to enable a determination as to which infection was diagnosed first. Of those 248 persons, 129 were diagnosed with HCV after the HIV and 119 were diagnosed with HCV before HIV infection. The proportion among different races/ethnicities was approximately similar between people having the HCV before or after HIV infection started. There was not a significant difference in gender between the two groups. When considering exposure, IDU was twice as prevalent among

people diagnosed with HCV before HIV compared to those diagnosed with HCV after HIV. The proportion of people over 46 years old having HCV before HIV was 2 times higher than those having HCV after HIV infection. The proportion of Non-Nebraskans (moved from another state to Nebraska) who contracted their HCV infection after HIV was approximately twice that of those who were infected with HCV first.

	HCV after HIV	HCV before HIV
Race		
White	74(57.3)	76(63.8)
Black	34(26.3)	27(22.7)
Hispanic	10(7.7)	11(9.2)
Asian	2(1.5)	2(1.7)
Multi-race	6(4.6)	0(0)
Other (AI/AN, NHw/PI)	3(2.3)	3(2.5)
Gender		
Male	98(76)	96(80.7)
Female	31(24)	23(19.3)
Exposure		
MSM only	61(47.3)	46(38.6)
IDU only	7(5.4)	12(10.1)
Heterosexual only	12(9.3)	12(10.1)
MSM and IDU	14(10.8)	11(9.2)
IDU and Hetero	9(7)	4(3.3)
MSM & Hetero	1(0.8)	3(2.5)
MSM & IDU & Hetero	4(3.1)	1(0.8)
Other	21(16.3)	30(25.2)
Age group		
Less than 16	0(0)	1(0.8)
17-25	23(17.8)	16(13.4)
26-35	42(32.5)	31(26)
36-45	46(35.6)	38(31.9)
46-55	14(10.8)	24(20.2)
56 and above	4(3.1)	9(7.5)

Table 3: Descriptive analysis of HIV/HCV coinfection comparing HCV diagnosed after HIV onset vs HCV diagnosed before HIV

Birth Country		
USA	105(81.4)	98(82.3)
Foreign	24(18.6)	21(17.6)
State of HIV diagnostic		
Nebraska	71(55)	96(80.7)
Non-Nebraska	58(45)	23(19.3)
Total	129	119
HIV stage		
Acute HIV	51(39.5)	58(48.7)
Clinical Latency	78(60.5)	61(51.3)
AIDS	0(0)	0(0)
Vital Status		
Alive	94(72.9)	93(78.2)
Death	35(27.1	26(21.8)
	129	119

Estimated mortality: in a univariate analysis with death as the outcome, coinfected HCV/HIV had 1.87 odds of dying compare to those with HIV infection only (OR=1.87; 95% CI: 1.42-2.45).

DISCUSSION

Our study found an estimated proportion of HCV infection among PLWHA of 11%, this proportion is less than the overall estimate reported by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2018) of about 25% and less than the 25-30% reported by Alter et al. (2006) in Europe and the U.S. In contrast, a population-based study using surveillance data from 15 states in the US and involving 504,398 persons living with diagnosed HIV infection in 2014, revealed that only 6.7% were coinfected with HCV (Bosh et al., 2018). This study estimated the proportion of HCV among newly diagnosed HIV infection which may explain the differences with other studies referring to the prevalence or the incidence rate.

The incidence of HIV/AIDS infection has declined over the past two decades, but the prevalence of HCV coinfection increased over the past two decades in Nebraska. This trend was corroborated by Smith & Sterling (2007) who also reported an increase in acute HCV from 2007 to 2010. According to Hagan et al. (2002) and Edlin, Eckhardt, Holmberg & Swan (2015), public health surveillance tools may misrepresent the true rates due to under-reporting of cases of high-risk groups and because better programs of screening may explain the constant increase in the number of HCV cases reported to health authorities. Since 2015, a decrease of proportion of notified cases has been seen, but future investigations are needed in order to understand the real cause of this diminution.

Most cases of HIV/HCV coinfection were reported in the Douglas and Lancaster County health districts; this is almost certainly due to the number of people in these two counties, which account for around 50% of persons of all Nebraska according to Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services (2015).

This study showed that non-Hispanic Whites represented approximately two thirds of all cases and non-Hispanic Blacks represented approximately one quarter of all cases. In Nebraska, 80% of people are non-Hispanic white and 4.7% are non-Hispanic Black (Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services, 2015); therefore, Blacks seem to have a high incidence than whites in both the PLWHA and HCV coinfection groups). Silverberg, Leyden, Quesenberry & Horberg (2009) found similar results in a retrospective cohort study of 4,686 HIV-infected patients. Multivariate analysis of our data showed that the odds of having HCV coinfection was not statistically significantly different when comparing whites to other races. In England, a study based on national surveillance using Public Health England HIV/AIDS database, Blacks had a 3.19-fold increase in the odds of having HIV/HCV coinfection. (Ireland et al., 2018)

The ratio of males to females was approximately 4:1 among PLWHA and among those coinfected with HCV. A similar study using surveillance data in New York obtained approximately the same results males accounting for 70-80% of those living with HCV coinfection (Prussing et al., 2015). Comparing female and males, the odds of having HCV coinfection was not statistically significant (OR=1.2; 95% CI 0.9-1.6; see table).

This study showed that most people in Nebraska were infected because they were Men who have Sex with Men (MSM) and/or Injection Drug Users (IDU). Around 40% of HCV coinfected individuals acquired their infections through MSM and over 40% were IDU in addition to other types of exposure. In the multivariate analysis, using heterosexual as reference, IDU only, IDU & Hetero, MSM & Hetero, MSM & IDU, MSM & IDU & Hetero had significant odds of having HCV coinfection (Table 3).

MSM had 1.4 times the odds of HIV/HCV coinfection compared to the Hetero group, but this estimate was not significant (CI=0.9-2.1). Several authors have corroborated these findings, Bollepalli et al. (2007) found that HCV coinfection was associated with IDU but not with sexual risk factors and the distribution of sterile needles produced a decline in the prevalence of HIV among IDU (Burt & Thiede,2016). Another study showed that there was a low prevalence of HCV coinfection among non-IDU with high-risk sexual behavior, similar to our conclusions regarding MSM. (Chew et al., 2015). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2011) reported that 59.9% of hepatitis cases were associated with the use of injection drugs and only 12.9% were associated with sexual exposures. There was a difference in the distribution of HIV/AIDS and HCV coinfection among the different age groups; HIV/AIDS proportion was highest among the 26-35 age groups and HCV coinfection was highest among the 36-45 age group. HCV coinfected patients tend to be older compared to the HIV infected only group. After examining the coinfected patients only, those ages 36-45, 46-55 and 56 and above had positive significant odds of having HIV/HCV coinfection compared to the 17-25 age group. Furthermore, this study showed that the 56 and above age group had 2.1 times odds of having HCV coinfection compare to the 17-25 age group. Most programs are targeting the younger age group (17-25), but this study showed that older people were more at risk for HCV coinfection may be due to some risk factors/ sexual risk behaviors and IDU; furthermore, thes persons have lived longer compare to young people with more opportunities to be exposed.

The proportion of foreign-born individuals is lower among those coinfected with HCV and multivariate analysis showed that the foreign born had 0.7 times odds of having HCV coinfection compare to USA born persons with 95% CI= 0.4-0.9. It is known that t foreign born individuals have higher odds of having HIV infection (table 3), but our study showed that the risk of HCV coinfection is lower. These results need to be investigated further for confirmation.

The mortality rate was high among HCV coinfected persons; the current study concluded that having HCV coinfection increased by 1.87 times the odds of dying compared to having HIV infection only (OR=1.87; 95% CI: 1.42-2.45). Several studies have published similar results regarding an increase of the mortality rate among those coinfected with HCV (Prussing et al., 2015). This high mortality is likely related to liver damage and the acceleration to AIDS (Andreoni et al., 2012).

Of a total of 248 persons with HIV/HCV coinfection, 129 persons were infected with HCV after the HIV started compare to 119 persons who had HCV before the HIV infection. we could not figure out which group had the higher odds due to the sample size and the type of study design. Future studies are needed to determine which group is more at risk; these may help to focus effort for preventing the state of HCV coinfection.

LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Missing information and underreporting were on the limitation of this study. Many persons did not have all their information recorded making challenging the analysis process. Moreover, this fact decreased the sample size, and the consequence is the loss of power. Underreporting is a limitation because we could find the exact number of people with HCV coinfection. Due to the data collection method, we could not capture the real number of people moved out-Nebraska having coinfection and should be taken into consideration in the reporting electronic system.

Based on the results of this study, an improved data surveillance of HCV infection, widespread adoption of electronic health record systems and electronic information exchange can provide a wealth of new data sources and better monitor the true incidence of HCV infection among people. High-risk PLWHA should be monitored and targeted for preventive measures to prevent HCV coinfection. Finally, there is a need for future studies to identify the best public health interventions to decrease the HCV coinfection among PLWHA in Nebraska.

CONCLUSION

This study showed that the odds of having HCV coinfection were not statistically significant based on race. The odds of having HCV coinfection was significant with IDU used and increased in the case where IDU was associated to another risk sexual behavior, but surprisingly MSM did not show any increase odds of HCV coinfection compare to the heterosexual group. Furthermore, it is found that 36 years and above had higher odds of having HCV compare to 17-25 age group. The mortality was increased among HCV coinfected people. Future and better study designs are needed to better understand the epidemiology of some specific groups such as foreign-born. Future and better study designs are required to understand better some the burden of HCV coinfection among PLWHA in Nebraska.

REFERENCES

- Alter, M. J. (2006). Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and HIV co-infection. *Journal of Hepatology*, 44, S6-S9.
- Andreoni, M., Giacometti, A., Maida, I., Meraviglia, P., Ripamonti, D., & Sarmati, L. (2012).
 HIV-HCV co-infection: Epidemiology, pathogenesis and therapeutic implications.
 European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 16(11), 1473-1483.
- Bollepalli, S., Mathieson, K., Bay, C., Hillier, A., Post, J., Van Thiel, D. H., & Nadir, A. (2007). Prevalence of risk factors for hepatitis C virus in HIV-infected and HIV/hepatitis C virus-

coinfected patients. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, *34*(6), 367-370. doi: 10.1097/01.olq.0000240295.35457.b1 [doi]

- Bosh, K., Coyle, J., Hansen, V., Kim, E., Speers, S., Comer, M., . . . Jatta, A. (2018). HIV and viral hepatitis coinfection analysis using surveillance data from 15 US states and two cities. *Epidemiology & Infection, 146*(7), 920-930.
- Chew, K. W., Blum, M. L., Javanbakht, M., Clare, L. E., Bornfleth, L. D., Bolan, R., . . .
 Gorbach, P. M. (2015). Low prevalence of hepatitis C co-infection in recently HIV-infected minority men who have sex with men in los angeles: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 15, 538-015-1279-z. doi:10.1186/s12879-015-1279-z [doi]
- Cuomo, G., Digaetano, M., Menozzi, M., Tagliazucchi, S., Guaraldi, G., Borghi, V., & Mussini,
 C. (2018). Incidence of HCV infection amongst HIV positive men who had sex with men and prevalence data from patients followed at the infectious disease's clinic of modena, italy. *Digestive and Liver Disease*,
- Danta, M., & Rodger, A. J. (2011). Transmission of HCV in HIV-positive populations. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*, 6(6), 451-458. doi:10.1097/COH.0b013e32834b4974 [doi]
- d'Arminio Monforte, A., Cozzi-Lepri, A., Castagna, A., Antinori, A., De Luca, A., Mussini, C., .
 . . Icona Foundation Study Group. (2009). Risk of developing specific AIDS-defining illnesses in patients coinfected with HIV and hepatitis C virus with or without liver cirrhosis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases: An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, 49(4), 612-622. doi:10.1086/603557 [doi]

- Hadigan, C., & Kottilil, S. (2011). Hepatitis C virus infection and coinfection with human immunodeficiency virus: Challenges and advancements in management. *Jama, 306*(3), 294-301. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.975 [doi]
- Ireland, G., Delpech, V., Kirwan, P., Croxford, S., Lattimore, S., Sabin, C., . . . Simmons, R. (2018). Prevalence of diagnosed HIV infection among persons with hepatitis C virus infection: England, 2008-2014. *HIV Medicine*, doi:10.1111/hiv.12662 [doi]
- Leszczyszyn-Pynka, M., Ciejak, P., Maciejewska, K., Witak-Jędra, M., Karasińska-Cieślak, M., Karpińska, E., . . . Parczewski, M. (2018). Hepatitis C coinfection adversely affects the life expectancy of people living with HIV in northwestern poland. *Archives of Medical Science: AMS*, 14(3), 554.
- Matthews, G. V., & Dore, G. J. (2008). HIV and hepatitis C coinfection. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 23(7pt1), 1000-1008.
- Operskalski, E. A., & Kovacs, A. (2011). HIV/HCV co-infection: Pathogenesis, clinical complications, treatment, and new therapeutic technologies. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 8(1), 12-22. doi:10.1007/s11904-010-0071-3 [doi]
- Platt, L., Easterbrook, P., Gower, E., McDonald, B., Sabin, K., McGowan, C., . . . Vickerman, P. (2016). Prevalence and burden of HCV co-infection in people living with HIV: A global systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *16*(7), 797-808.
- Prussing, C., Chan, C., Pinchoff, J., Kersanske, L., Bornschlegel, K., Balter, S., . . . Fuld, J. (2015). HIV and viral hepatitis co-infection in new york city, 2000-2010: Prevalence and

case characteristics. Epidemiology and Infection, 143(7), 1408-1416.

doi:10.1017/S0950268814002209 [doi]

Smith, J. O., & Sterling, R. K. (2007). Hepatitis C and HIV. *Current Gastroenterology Reports*, 9(1), 83-90.

Thomas, D. L. (2008). The challenge of hepatitis C in the HIV-infected person. *Annu.Rev.Med., 59*, 473-485.

- Burt, R. D., & Thiede, H. (2016). Reduction in needle sharing among Seattle-area injection drug users across 4 surveys, 1994–2013. *American journal of public health*, *106*(2), 301-307.
- CDC. (2018). HIV/AIDS and Viral Hepatitis. Retrieved Nov 5th, 2018, from https://www.cdc.gov
- CDC. (2011). Division of Viral Hepatitis, National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD & TB Prevention. Retrieved Nov 3rd, 2018 from https://www.cdc.gov

from http://www.unaids.org

- Hagan, H., Snyder, N., Hough, E., Yu, T., McKeirnan, S., Boase, J., & Duchin, J. (2002). Case reporting of acute hepatitis B and C among injection drug users. *Journal of Urban Health*, 79(4), 579-585.
- Edlin, B. R., Eckhardt, B. J., Shu, M. A., Holmberg, S. D., & Swan, T. (2015). Toward a more accurate estimate of the prevalence of hepatitis C in the United States. *Hepatology*, 62(5), 1353-1363.

- Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services. (2015). 2015 Nebraska Epidemiologic Profile for HIV/AIDS, Sexually Transmitted Diseases and Hepatitis C. Retrieved from http://dhhs.ne.gov/Reports/HIV-AIDS.
- Silverberg, M. J., Leyden, W., Quesenberry, C. P., & Horberg, M. A. (2009). Race/ethnicity and risk of AIDS and death among HIV-infected patients with access to care. *Journal of general internal medicine*, *24*(9), 1065-1072.

UNAIDS. (2018). UNAIDS DATA 2018. Retrieved Sep 24th, 2018

- WHO. (2018). HIV and hepatitis coinfections. Retrieved Sep 24th, 2018 from http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/hepatitis/hepatitisinfo/en /
- WHO. (2018). Global Health Observatory (GHO) data. Retrieved Jul 15th, from http://www.who.int/gho/hiv/en/